

Milestones of Pancreatic Beta Cell Differentiation from Embryonic Stem Cells

Josué K. Mfopou • Luc Bouwens*

Cell Differentiation Unit (DIFF), Diabetes Research Centre, Faculty of Medicine and Pharmacy, Vrije Universiteit Brussel (VUB). Laarbeeklaan 103, 1090 Brussels, Belgium Corresponding author: * lucbo@vub.ac.be

ABSTRACT

Transplantation of pancreatic islets of Langerhans has proven effective in setting diabetic patients insulin-free for periods longer than a year, resulting in a net improvement in generic measures of quality of life. Although very promising, this treatment cannot yet be generally applied because of shortage in brain-dead heart-beating islet donors. Several non-endocrine pancreatic cells and non-pancreatic cells are presently investigated for their possible use as alternative sources of islets needed for diabetes cell therapy. Among them, embryonic stem (ES) cells are valued for their high proliferative capacity and their potential to generate progenies of all three developmental germ layers. Till date, several attempts to generate pancreatic epithelial cells, namely insulin-producing beta cells from rodent and primate ES cells have been initiated by different groups and resulted in diverse success rates. One of the most striking limiting factors has been the lack of a comprehensive efficient and reproducible protocol taking into account the main features of normal pancreas development *in vivo*. This review focuses on the successive achievements in this field, with special credits to the ideological milestones of the so far proposed protocols for generation of beta cells from ES cells.

Keywords: activin, definitive endoderm, diabetes, insulin, pancreas development

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
ES CELL DISCOVERY AND POTENTIALS IN CELL THERAPY	
EC cells as a model for embryological studies <i>in vitro</i>	
Lineage differentiation of ES cells: ectoderm-mesoderm-endoderm	
Theoretical basis for cell therapy applications	
CHRONICLE OF PANCREATIC DIFFERENTIATION FROM ES CELLS	
The pioneer study: antibiotic selection of ES cell clones with active insulin promoter	
Spontaneous differentiation of ES cells to pancreatic cells: an orderly yet stochastic world!	
Selection of nestin-positive progenitor cells	
Rebuttal of nestin selection as a prerequisite to differentiate pancreatic cells	
The options of TFs shortcuts: forcing cells to follow the pancreatic pathway!	
The early stages of developmental mimicking in vitro	
LATEST GROUNDBREAKING ACHIEVEMENTS	
Getting to the definitive endoderm: the "golden egg" finally found!	
From definitive endoderm to pancreatic beta-like cell: enough done, but much still to be done!	
CONCLUDING REMARKS AND PERSPECTIVES	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes mellitus is the leading metabolic disease, a growing public health burden that presently affects 200 million individuals worldwide and shows estimates up to 366 millions by the year 2030 (Wild *et al.* 2004). Two major types of diabetes are recognized and clinically predominant: Type I or insulin-dependent diabetes that follows immune attack to beta-cells with a resulting loss of endogenous insulin production, and Type II or non-insulin-dependent diabetes which develops in a context of overweight and insulin resistance. Despite the key improvements in diabetes management during the past 20 years, it remains not yet absolute that severe debilitating complications can be prevented by these treatments (The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group 1993). Indeed, exogenous insulin supply or other pharmacological agents do not perfectly mimic the glucose sensing and insulin release functions of beta cells within islets of Langerhans.

In order to restore the loss of endogenous insulin production in type I diabetes and in subsets of advanced type II diabetes, pancreas transplantation was considered, but has been mainly limited by technical issues. Cell replacement therapy, namely transplantation of purified islets of Langerhans into the portal vein of the liver, is currently considered as an interesting alternative to insulin therapy in the management of type I diabetic patients with poor metabolic control and frequent episodes of hypoglycemia. This procedure improves patients' quality of life and leads to insulin independence for periods as long as 5 years, though only 10% of transplanted patients still do not require insulin at these later stages (Shapiro *et al.* 2000; Ryan *et al.* 2005;



Fig. 1 Potential sources of beta cells. Several studies have documented the possible generation of beta-like cells from differentiated cells of the endoderm lineage (liver, bile duct, intestine, exocrine pancreas), or from stem cells that have their niche in the mesoderm- or ectoderm-derived organs. It is at present widely accepted that pluripotent embryonic stem cells can be directed towards a beta cell phenotype following an initial step of definitive endoderm differentiation. PSC/PPC: putative pancreatic stem or pancreatic progenitor cell; NSC/NPC: neural stem or neural progenitor cell; AT-MSC: adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cell; BM: bone marrow-derived MSC; UCB-MSC: umbilical cord blood-derived MSC; BM-MAPC: BM-derived multipotent adult progenitor cell; BM-VSEL: BM-derived very small embryonic-like cell.

Poggioli et al. 2006; Shapiro et al. 2006). Following a recent evaluation of glycemic control in type 1 diabetic recipients of islets grafts, it appears that the initial beta cell mass transplanted should be at least 2 x 10° /kg body weight in order to achieve a functioning graft by post-transplant month 2 (C-peptide levels), avoid the need for a second graft and obtain a good metabolic control (HbA1c, coefficient of variation of glycemia) within the next 10 months (Keymeulen et al. 2006). The main challenge of a therapy with such critical requirements is that donor pancreata are not sufficiently available to allow for transplantation of the majority, not to mention all diabetic patients in need. This condition fostered interest of several research groups in the hunt for clinically relevant alternatives for cadaveric islet cells. These presently include the replication of beta cells, the (trans)differentiation of non-endocrine pancreatic cells (duct- and acinar cells, putative pancreatic stem/progenitor cells), the differentiation of non-pancreatic endoderm-derived cells (hepatocytes, bile duct cells, enterocytes), and the differentiation of adult (bone marrow-derived or adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells, neural stem/progenitor cells, liver oval cells) or embryonic stem cells (Kaczorowski et al. 2002; Bonner-Weir and Weir 2005; Fellous et al. 2006; Santana et al. 2006) (Fig. 1). Because of their high proliferative and self-renewal capacity, and their potential to generate progenies of all three developmental germ layers (ectoderm, mesoderm, endoderm) in vitro and in teratoma in vivo, ES cells are considered as one of the most promising source for generation of islet-like cells needed for diabetes cell therapy. More than six years have passed since the first study reported expression of insulin gene by progenies of mouse ES cells (Soria et al. 2000). Despite the large amount of work carried out in order to confirm and improve these initial findings in both rodents and primates ES cell lines, there are still important challenges remaining before the introduction of ES cells into clinics. This review

will recapitulate the main strategic landmarks of the development of beta-cell therapy from ES cells.

ES CELL DISCOVERY AND POTENTIALS IN CELL THERAPY

EC cells as a model for embryological studies *in vitro*

Embryonal carcinoma (EC) cells are multipotent cell lines derived from spontaneous teratocarcinoma initially described in mouse testis, but which has been observed in human testis and ovary as well. They are thus considered as the stem cells of the germ cell-derived tumors (Kleinsmith and Pierce 1964; Friedrich et al. 1983). Several lines of EC cells have been derived from mouse and human teratocarcinoma and their multipotential property confirmed in single cell transplantation experiments (Martin and Evans 1975; Nicolas et al. 1976; Thompson et al. 1984; Pera et al. 1989). For decades, these cells have fuelled the basic in vitro studies of cell fate determination and differentiation at the molecular level; somewhat establishing the path to a better understanding of mammalian development. Indeed, it was very soon recognized that EC cell differentiation in vitro is an "orderly" process that mirrors the development of the early embryo, starting with the formation of an outer layer of endoderm cells as occurs at the surface of the inner cell mass. Therefore, these cells represented an important instrument in the investigation of processes otherwise inaccessible in the developing embryo (Martin and Evans 1975; Przyborski et al. 2004). The finding that EC cells share several properties with the inner cell mass (ICM) cells of blastocysts, as well as the knowledge gained in manipulating EC cells in vitro led to the development of techniques for derivation of their embryonic counterparts, namely embryonic stem (ES) cells from blastocysts of mouse (Evans and Kaufman 1981; Martin 1981) and later on human origin (Thomson et al. 1998).

Although both mice and human ES cells share some essential characteristics such as derivation from the preimplantation blastocyst (i), prolonged proliferation in an undifferentiated state (ii), and potential to form derivatives of all three germ layers (iii), there are several differences in their molecular features and in their respective manipulation in the lab. Whereas Oct4 and Nanog are well recognized endogenous transcription factors required for pluripotency in both lines, mES and hES cells differ in their requirements for feeder layer, leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), bone morphogenetic protein 4 (BMP4), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), transforming growth factor beta (TGFB)/Activin/ Nodal or Wnt signaling as exogenous factors sustaining undifferentiated state and inhibiting differentiation (Niwa et al. 1998; Mitsui et al. 2003; Chambers 2004; Humphrey et al. 2004; O'Shea 2004; Sato et al. 2004; Beattie et al. 2005; James et al. 2005; Vallier et al. 2005; Hao et al. 2006). These molecular dissimilarities fuelled investigations aiming at deciphering whether they relate to the species difference or to the time point in embryonic development at which the respective cell lines are derived (embryonic day (E) 3.5 in mouse, and E5 in human). It is now known that pluripotent stem cells can also be derived from pre-blastocyst mouse embryos (less than E3.5), as well as from mouse and rat post-implantation embryos. Interestingly, the postimplantation epiblast-derived mouse and rat pluripotent stem cells named EpiSCs, share similar self-renewal mechanisms (Activin/Nodal) with human ES cells and differentiate to all three germ layers in vitro and in vivo (Tesar 2005; Brons et al. 2007; Tesar et al. 2007).

Lineage differentiation of ES cells: ectodermmesoderm-endoderm

Analysis of differentiated cells in teratocarcinomas from implanted EC cells obviously indicated that they belong to the three germ layers of mammalian development (ectoderm, mesoderm and endoderm), which is concordant with their definition as pluripotent cells. Also, their *in vitro* differentiation was shown to follow a similar pattern as *in vivo*, starting with the formation of spherical aggregates named embryoid bodies (EBs) because of their resemblance with mouse embryo at the egg-cylinder stage. In these aggregates, the initial sign of differentiation is the formation of an outer layer of endoderm cells showing enlarged endoplasmic reticulum and prominent microvilli. This cell layer is referred to as visceral endoderm, an equivalent of the extra-embryonic endoderm in vertebrate development (Martin and Evans 1975). The visceral endoderm of EBs surrounds a multilayered columnar epithelium, which represents the primitive ectoderm or the epiblast cells.

As embryonal carcinoma cells were at the root of ES cell discovery, the differentiation of the later was as well initially investigated via the formation of embryoid bodies (Martin 1981). EBs formation induced by hanging-drop or suspension culture in the absence of self-renewal factors has remained for a long time the primary step if not the unique setting of nearly all differentiation protocols. However EBs culture does not constitute an efficient method to obtain purified populations of differentiated cells amenable to cell therapy. Indeed, differentiation within EBs is not patterned as in the embryo and results into mixtures of several cell types even in conditions where extra-cellular molecules are added to favor one particular lineage (O'Shea 2004). It is nowadays widely recognized that ES cells can differentiate in two dimensions upon withdrawal of self-renewal factors, with or without concomitant supplementation of "fate-determining" molecules. In these settings, neuroectodermal differentiation represents the default differentiation pathway (Tropepe et al. 2001; Smukler et al. 2006)

Ectoderm and mesoderm are the germ layers whose differentiation from ES cells has been the most studied. There are currently established protocols for the differentiation of sensory and motor neurons, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, as well as glial cells from mouse and human ES cells; and some studies further characterized the *in vivo* functional integration of differentiated cells (Brustle *et al.* 1999; Wichterle *et al.* 2002; Scheffler *et al.* 2003; Maye *et al.* 2004; Keirstead *et al.* 2005; Li *et al.* 2005). Similarly, cells originating from the mesoderm germ layer such as cardiomyocytes, skeletal myoblasts, osteoblasts, chondroblasts and endothelial cells can be efficiently differentiated from embryonic stem cells, and signals from molecules of the TGF- β /Activin/Nodal family play crucial roles in the initiation of mesodermal tissues (Johansson and Wiles 1995; Schuldiner *et al.* 2000; Pfendler *et al.* 2005; Tada *et al.* 2005; zur Nieden *et al.* 2005; Barberi *et al.* 2007). It is just recently that the derivation of cells representing definitive endoderm has been achieved via activation of SMAD (mothers against decapentaplegic homolog) pathway with high concentrations of activin-A, somewhat reproducing the findings from *Xenopus* animal cap assay in embryonic stem cells (Okabayashi and Asashima 2003; Kubo *et al.* 2004; D'Amour *et al.* 2005).

Theoretical basis for cell therapy applications

It is well recognized that several chronic and degenerative diseases are the result of a particular cell loss or functional failure. This includes, just to mention a few, the loss of dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease, the loss of insulin-producing beta cell mass/function in diabetes, or the ischemic injury to contracting cardiomyocytes that results into myocardial infarction. Some of these diseases can be clinically controlled via supplementation of active molecules lost in the disease process. However such treatments only partially mimic the normal physiological function, therefore bring only temporary symptomatic relief and cannot halt the disease progression or cure the patient (Table 1). The ultimate treatment for such diseases would be the replacement of the initial functional cell population presently lost in the disease process, a procedure referred to as "cell replacement therapy" or "regenerative medicine". This theoretical assertion has been clinically implemented for decades with bone marrow transplants in hematopoeitic diseases. It was recently extended to selected diabetic patients by transplantation of pancreas or most usually purified islets of Langerhans, resulting in long-term independence from daily insulin injections and improvement of quality of life (Shapiro et al. 2000; Ryan et al. 2005; Keymeulen et al. 2006: Shapiro et al. 2006). The main challenge for its wide utilization in clinics is the limited availability of transplantation material, which currently is mainly procured from heart-beating brain-dead donors. The scientific community strives to find alternatives to cadaveric donors. To this point, embryonic stem cells, on the basis of their wide developmental capacities, represent an abundant source of functional cells, provided their differentiation to the desired cell type could be adequately controlled in vitro. As such, the

Table 1 Scope of regenerative medicine. Diseases that are related to loss of endogenous cell mass or function can be treated by replacement of the default cell population with cells from exogenous sources or by stimulating a regenerative process from endogenous progenitors when these latter are known. Exogenous cells could be obtained by *in vitro* differentiation of autologous cells, or via directed differentiation of pluripotent embryonic stem cells. Diseases that can benefit from such therapy options encompass several organs representing the three mammalian germ layers. A short list of the most common ones is given in the table

Germ layer	Organ	Disease	Cellular or molecular basis	Actual treatment
ENDODERM	Pancreas	Diabetes mellitus	Beta-cell loss (mass and/or function), insulinopenia	Daily insulin injections, pancreas or islets TPT
	Liver	Metabolic liver diseases	Mutation of genes encoding metabolic enzymes	Metabolic control, palliative support, liver TPT
		Cirrhosis	Primary or cryptogenic, fibrosis	Symptomatic relief, liver TPT
	Lungs	Cystic fibrosis	Mutation CFTR gene, multiple organs affected	Organ dependent symptomatic relief, lung TPT
MESODERM	Skeletal muscle	Duchenne muscular dystrophy	Genetic lack of dystrophin	Palliative support
	Myocardium	Myocardial infarction	Ischemic cell death => scar formation and arrythmias	Emergency management for reperfusion, stem cell trials
		Dilated cardiomyopathy	Presenilin mutation	Heart function improvement, Pacemakers, Heart TPT
	Kidney	Alport Syndrome	Mutation Collagen-IV: structural damage of glomerular BM	Long-term dialysis, Kidney TPT
ECTODERM	DOPA neurons	Parkinson's disease	Loss of midbrain DOPA neurons	Dopaminergic + antidyskinesis drugs, brain stimulation
	Motor neurons	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	Mutation SOD1 gene => motor neuron destruction	Palliative support
	Brain	Alzheimer's disease	Presenilin mutation	Palliative support

dismutase

scope of regenerative medicine possibly will be opened to many other chronic or degenerative disturbances than diabetes, as depicted in **Table 1**.

CHRONICLE OF PANCREATIC DIFFERENTIATION FROM ES CELLS

The pioneer study: antibiotic selection of ES cell clones with active insulin promoter

The first study to demonstrate the expression and synthesis of insulin by ES-derived cells was published by Soria et al. in 2000. Mouse ES-cells were transfected with an antibiotic resistance gene driven by insulin promoter sequence, ensuring the survival of only insulin-expressing cells upon supplementation of the antibiotic geneticin to the culture medium. After several rounds of culture and final maturation in the presence of nicotinamide and low glucose concentrations, 8 clones of geneticin-resistant cells were identified out of 784. The insulin content of the cells generated by this procedure amounted to 90% of mouse islet insulin content and they were able to restore normoglycemia when transplanted in animals rendered diabetic by streptozotocin injection (Soria et al. 2000). This study constituted the proof of principle that ES cells could synthesize insulin. However the antibiotic selection pressure and the low success rate (1 out of 100 clones), and the need of DNA transfection represent limitations to potential expansion and clinical application to many candidate islets transplant recipients.

Spontaneous differentiation of ES cells to pancreatic cells: an orderly yet stochastic world!

Although the study by Soria *et al.* (2000) selectively generated cells expressing insulin *in vitro*, a second type of proof that ES cells could follow the pancreatic pathway was the demonstration that rhesus monkey ES cells injected in severe combined immuno-deficient (SCID) mice give rise to teratomas containing fully differentiated gut like structures with branching ducts, as well as cells transcribing pancreatic-islet specific genes such as glucagon, somatostatin, β -glucokinase and glucose transporter-2 (Glut2) (Jacobson et al. 2001). A parallel study used human ES cells (H9 cell line) cultured as embryoid bodies (EBs) in suspension up to 30 days and showed for the first time that between 60 to 70% EBs contain insulin-positive cells (1-3% total cells). These EBs initially expressed mRNAs of transcription factors necessary for pancreas development (pancreas duodenum homeobox-1 (Pdx1), neurogenin-3 (Ngn3)), followed by those of beta cell markers insulin, glucokinase and Glut2 (Assady et al. 2001). Mouse ES cells were allowed to form EBs and differentiated for 2 weeks on gelatin-coated dishes in the presence of 10-15% serum and nicotinamide. These cultures generated 0.3% insulin-positive cells, however detection of insulin1 expression required the use of nested-PCR. Differentiated cells could be maintained and subcultured up to 9 times in 15% serum and nicotinamide. This maintenance was achieved at least in part via proliferation of insulin-positive cells or their progenitors as indicated by bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) incorporation (Ibii et al. 2007).

These first generation studies therefore indicated that in the absence of any selection pressure, a limited proportion of ES cells spontaneously differentiate to pancreatic phenotype both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Sequential analysis of pancreas transcription factors and markers over a 5-week differentiation course indicated a stepwise transition through characteristic stages of pancreas development, suggesting recapitulation of the normal islet cyto-differentiation from ES cells (Kahan *et al.* 2003). However, in these settings, the proportion of cells committing to the pancreatic lineage remains very low and unpredictable and they have a very low insulin content (**Table 2**), raising several issues:

(1) Detection: the limited number of ES-derived betalike cells and their low cellular insulin content represent a technical challenge for *in vitro* analysis, especially when the detection system relies on activation of insulin promotor. Similarly, differentiated EBs cells express insulin mRNA at levels at least 100.000 times lower than whole pancreas level (Kahan *et al.* 2003; Mfopou *et al.* 2005; Lavon *et al.* 2006). In order to ease *in-situ* identification of the rare insu-

Table 2 Insulin expression in ES-derived beta-like cells. Several protocols have been used to generate beta-like cells from embryonic stem cells. Assuming no major discrepancy in technical assessment of beta cell function among different groups, these cells vary considerably in their intracellular insulin content (ICIC) and in their glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS). The levels achieved so far usually represent only limited fraction of that recorded from genuine pancreatic beta cells. In contrast to other insulin secretagonues, glucose response of these cells is poor

ES cells	Major protocol features	ICIC	GSIS	GSIS	References		
		(a)	(a)	(b)			
Mouse	Insulin promoter cell trapping, NA	16500	318.40	6.8	Soria et al. 2000		
	Nkx6.1 cell trapping, NA	160	4	5.0	Léon-Quinto et al. 2004		
	Nestin+ selection, ITS-FGF-NA	145	2.87	-	Lumelsky et al. 2001		
	Nestin+ selection, PI3K inhibitor	11300	390	-	Hori et al. 2003		
	Nestin+ seclection, feeder free	-	4.73	2.5	Moritoh et al. 2003		
	Nestin+ selection	-	ş	1.0	Sipione et al. 2004		
	Nestin+ selection, GLP1-NA	§	§	4.4	Bai et al. 2005		
	Nestin+ selection	36	8	1.0	McKiernan et al. 2007		
	Ectoderm commitment	0.53	-	-	Roche et al. 2005		
	o-ex Pax4, nestin+ seclection	98.70	19.7	2.0	Blyszczuk et al. 2003		
	o-ex Pax4, no nestin+ seclection	168	27	1.6	Blyszczuk et al. 2004		
	o-ex Pax4, PI3K inhibitor	170	§	-	Lin et al. 2007		
	o-ex Pdx1, nestin+ selection	54	10.9	1.3	Miyazaki et al. 2004		
	o-ex Nkx2.2	-	§	1.3	Shiroi et al. 2006		
	FP factors, Insulin+ cell trapping	2700	600	4	Vaca et al. 2005		
	DE induction, RA-B27-FGF2-NA	-	1.3	6.0	Shi et al. 2006		
Human	Nestin+ selection	-	7.3	0.6	Hansson et al. 2004		
	Nestin+ selection, suspension	-	§	1.5	Segev et al. 2004		
	Nestin+ selection	-	-	4.0	Baharvand et al. 2006		
	DE induction > PGT > PFG > PE	§	ş	1.0	D'Amour et al. 2006		
	DE induction, RA-FGF2-NA	-	0.2	2.0	Jiang et al. 2007a		
	DE induction-Noggin-EGF-FGF2	§	§	3.7	Jiang et al. 2007b		
Mouse islet	ts	20310	-	-	León-Quinto et al. 2004		
MIN6 cell l	line	≈ 4000	≈ 150	4.0	McKiernan et al. 2007		

Abbreviations: -, not determined; §, expressed in other units; (a), ng/mg protein; (b), fold increase over basal condition; ActA, activin-A; DE, definitive endoderm; FP, fetal pancreas; GLP1, glucagon-like peptide-1; NA, nicotinamide; o-ex, over-expression upon transfection or nucleofection; PE, pancreatic endoderm; PFG, posterior foregut; PGT, primitive gut tube; RA, retinoic acid;

lin-positive cells differentiated with this protocol from mouse ES cells, the zinc-chelating agent dithizon was used based on the known requirement of zinc for insulin packaging in pancreatic beta cell granules. In contrast to negative cells, selected dithizon-positive clusters showed in classical RT-PCR a comparable expression profile (*forkhead box A2* (*Foxa2*), *Pdx1*, *pro-insulin1*, *pro-insulin2*, *glucagon*, *Glut2*) with isolated pancreatic islets. However these cells were not further evaluated in a glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS) assay nor transplanted into diabetic animals (Shiroi *et al.* 2002).

(2) Maturation: The low insulin content of differentiated cells might suggest they are still immature. Supplementation of nicotinamide, a soluble group B vitamin, in the last days of differentiation appeared to increase the number of insulin-positive cells as well as insulin content. It is not yet known whether this effect occurs via improved differentiation and maturation, or by protection of differentiated insulin-producing cells from noxious apoptotic stimuli (Gale 1996; Vaca *et al.* 2003).

(3) Cellular origin and identity: genuine pancreatic beta cells differentiate from precursors that belong to the definitive endoderm germ layer. It was unclear whether ESderived insulin-producing cells were ontologically similar to their pancreatic counterpart. Indeed, a hepatocyte nuclear factor-6 (Hnf6)-null mutant ES cell line in which the proendocrine transcription factor Ngn3 is not induced still gives rise to insulin-positive cells in the outer layer of EBs which is known as visceral endoderm (Martin 1981). Furthermore, gene expression analysis showed increased expression of octamer binding transcription factor-4 (Oct4) and nuclear receptor subfamily 2, group F, member 1 (*Nr2f1*, also known as *COUP-TF1*) in differentiated cells, suggesting that they belong to the extra-embryonic visceral endoderm. This tissue is known to share several TFs (Foxa2, Pdx1) and proteins (alpha-fetoprotein (AFP), insulin) with embryonic endoderm (Houard *et al.* 2003; Milne *et al.* 2005).

(4) Molecular regulation: the cascade of transcription factors that control pancreas development is initiated and fine-tuned by extracellular signals binding to specific receptors and activating downstream targets. Extended expression profiling of signaling pathways involved in embryonic pancreas regulation (Hedgehog, Notch, TGF β , FGF, Wnt) suggested that the microenvironment of EBs is inappropriate for normal pancreas development, therefore explaining the limited amount of insulin-producing cells that spontaneously differentiate from ES cultures (Mfopou and Bouwens 2005; Mfopou *et al.* 2005).

Selection of nestin-positive progenitor cells

The second-generation studies tried to improve the efficiency and yield of insulin-producing cells by use of exogenous signaling molecules to direct ES cell differentiation in vitro. Owing to the similar developmental features recognized for the pancreas and the central nervous system, a protocol initially designed to generate neural precursors from mouse ES cells was adapted to derive insulin-positive cells. In the course, nestin-positive cells were selected by plating EBs in serum-free medium with insulin-selenium-transferin-fibronectin (ITSFn) supplement, expanded in medium containing FGF2, N2 and B27 supplements, and further differentiated by FGF2 withdrawal and addition of nicotinamide. The generated insulin-positive cells were intimately associated with β -III tubulin-positive neuronal cells, and appeared to increase their insulin secretion 3- to 4-fold in response to glucose, tolbutamide, carbachol and 3-Isobutyl-1-methylxanthine (IBMX). However, these cells failed to normalize blood glucose levels after subcutaneous transplantation into diabetic animals (Lumelsky et al. 2001). Similar findings were recorded by other groups using mouse or human ES cell lines with slight modifications in growth factors supplementation, and insulin content was found to significantly increase (30-fold) when differentiated cells were finally cultured as aggregates in suspension (Kania *et al.* 2003; Rajagopal *et al.* 2003; Segev *et al.* 2004; Baharvand *et al.* 2006; Ibii *et al.* 2007). Fujikawa *et al.* applied the same strategy to two mouse ES cell lines and showed that insulin-producing cells also stained for C-peptide (a by-product of pro-insulin processing) but only transiently rescued hyperglycaemia in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. The major reason for this secondary failure was teratoma formation from few undifferentiated Oct4-positive cells present in the original transplant (Fujikawa *et al.* 2005).

Several other modifications were applied to the original protocol of Lumelsky et al. Replacing B27 supplement by a phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) inhibitor in the last stage of differentiation reduced cell growth and neurite outgrowth, and resulted in 30-fold increased insulin content. However, these insulin-enriched cell clusters prolonged survival but failed to completely normalize glycaemia in transplanted animals (Hori et al. 2002). On the contrary, supplementation of exendin-4, its analogue glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP1) or glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) to cultures of purified nestin-positive cells significantly increased Pdx1 expression, insulin content (45-50%) and insulin secretion (35-400%), resulting in reversal of hyperglycaemia in transplanted SCID mice (Lester et al. 2004; Bai et al. 2005; Marenah et al. 2006; Yue et al. 2006). Upon nestin selection and differentiation, transgenic ES cells constitutively expressing paired box gene-4 (Pax4) showed a three and five-fold increase in insulin-positive cell percentage and insulin content respectively, when compared to wild type ES cells. This function of Pax4 appeared not to affect the early events of pancreas development (Pdx1, sonic hedgehog (Shh), islet-1 (Isl1)) but only genes known to regulate endocrine differentiation (Ngn3, Pax6). The cells derived by this procedure also normalized blood glucose in transplanted diabetic animals (Blyszczuk et al. 2003). With the use of transgenic technology, Moritoh et al. demonstrated the expression of insulin2 promoter-driven LacZ in mouse ES cells that underwent nestin selection in ITSFn medium, the positive cells being found both in the primitive ectoderm inner cell layer and in the outer visceral endoderm layer of EBs. However as already noticed by others, RT-PCR analysis did not show expression of the orthologous pancreas specific insulin1 gene, suggesting that non pancreatic insulin-producing cells are generated by these techniques (Moritoh et al. 2003).

Rebuttal of nestin selection as a prerequisite to differentiate pancreatic cells

Although several studies could find insulin-positive cells from ES cell cultures following nestin-positive cell selection and differentiation, the expression of *insulin2* transcripts as detected by RT-PCR appeared to be very low and inconsistent, and that of insulin1 was almost not unambiguously demonstrated. In addition, transgenic cell lines with enhanced-green fluorescent protein (e $\tilde{G}FP$) or β -D-galactosidase (LacZ) driven by *insulin* or *Pdx1* promoter indicated a wide discrepancy between reporter positive cells (absent and 1 out of 100.000 cells) and cells staining positive with anti-insulin antibodies (10-30%). The finding that many insulin-positive cells were also positive in terminal transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) assay suggested insulin uptake by apoptotic cells from culture medium in which this hormone is supplemented at very high concentrations (up to 25 μ g/ml; contributed by ITSFn, N2 or B27 supplements). Furthermore, fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labelled insulin added to culture medium was shown to concentrate in cells staining positive with anti-bodies to insulin (Rajagopal et al. 2003; Kitano et al. 2006; Lavon et al. 2006; Ibii et al. 2007; McKiernan et al. 2007). Additional examination of insulin-positive cells differentiated from mouse and human ES cells via nestin selection indicated a lack of cytoplasmic insulin storage granules, very rare co-staining with C-peptide and a lack of typical glucose responsiveness recognized for genuine pancreatic beta cells. These cells were actually found to be of neuronal phenotype: an initial selection for ectodermal neuro-epithelial progenitors still resulted in similar or even higher percentages of insulin-positive cells in the absence of endoderm markers (Hansson *et al.* 2004; Sipione *et al.* 2004; Roche *et al.* 2005). In order to confirm the uptake hypothesis, assays specifically detecting insulin of the ES cell line species, or those detecting radioactive-labeled newly synthesized insulin were developed and showed that upon selection and differentiation of nestin-positive cells, the majority of cellular insulin content is medium-derived and only a very tiny fraction could be attributed to *de novo* synthesis (Paek *et al.* 2005a, 2005b; McKiernan *et al.* 2007).

The options of TFs shortcuts: forcing cells to follow the pancreatic pathway!

During pancreatic development, several transcription factors act in a well-scheduled and complex cascade to instruct the differentiation of all pancreatic cell types being exocrine, endocrine or ductal. Some of these factors are crucial for the differentiation of a particular cell type. For instance, Pdx1 and pancreas specific transcription factor-1a (Ptf1a) are required in the progenitors of all pancreatic cells, whereas the lack of Ngn3 results in complete absence of all endocrine cells, and that of Pax4 improves alpha cell differentiation at the expense of beta cells (reviewed in Jensen 2004). The expression levels of many of these genes achieved during in vitro ES cell differentiation are usually far bellow the situation in pancreas (Mfopou et al. 2005). In order to mimic their functions in ES cell differentiation to pancreatic derivatives, several groups introduced transgenes over-expressing these factors in pluripotent cells and followed their differentiation. The proendocrine gene Ngn3 introduced in embryonal carcinoma cells or in embryonic stem cells induced higher levels of downstream TFs and endocrine hormones expression. Addition of γ -secretase inhibitor to block the Notch pathway that gets upregulated in Ngn3-expressing cells also potentiated transgene effects in terms of insulin-, glucagon- and somatostatin-positive cell differentiation (Vetere et al. 2003; Treff et al. 2006). Downstream of Ngn3, another transcription factor Pax4 is responsible for beta cell fate. Cells constitutively expressing Pax4 and differentiated with the nestin selection protocol were enriched in insulin. More recently, nucleofection of Pax4, which ensures only transient expression as occurs in vivo led to higher expression levels of pancreatic endocrine markers and a 3-fold increase in insulin-positive cells compared to mock-nucleofected controls (Blyszczuk et al. 2003; Lin et al. 2007). Pdx1 plays a central role in early stages of pancreas initiation and in beta cell function later on. Its overexpression in transgenic mouse ES cells before nestin selection increased the proportion of insulin-positive C-peptidepositive cells, but no transcripts of the pancreas specific insulin1 could be detected and the resulting cells showed only marginal response to glucose stimulation (Table 2). In another study, insulin1 transcripts were detected but were lost during subsequent passaging of differentiated cells and could be rescued by additional transfection with neurogenic differentiation-1 (NeuroD1) adenovirus construct (Miyazaki et al. 2004; Saitoh et al. 2007). In human ES cells, increased Pdx1 activity was achieved by exposing EBs to TAT-Pdx1 fusion protein. Protein-transduced EBs showed a 20- and 30-fold upregulation of Pdx1 and insulin expression respectively. In contrast to this study, Lavon et al. found no induction of insulin expression in Pdx1 over-expressing human ES cells differentiated as EBs in vitro, but only after teratoma formation in vivo suggesting the requirement of additional factors (Kwon et al. 2005; Lavon et al. 2006). On the other hand, transgenic mouse ES cells over-expressing NK2 homeobox transcription factor-2 (Nkx2.2) were shown to generate as from 2 weeks culture a higher proportion of insulin-positive and dithizon-positive cell clusters that expressed both insulin1 and insulin2 genes (Shiroi et al. 2005). Although transcription factors required for pancreas development are usually expressed at low levels during ES cell differentiation, their single or combined over-expression after DNA transfection might result in extremely high activities that do not anymore match with physiological conditions. Furthermore, this procedure does not delicately recapitulate the complex cascade of TFs known to regulate pancreas development. To this end, activation of insulin transcripts after over-expression of Pdx1 for instance might merely result from DNA binding and not factual differentiation to beta cells.

The early stages of developmental mimicking *in vitro*

Considering the limitations of spontaneous differentiation and of ectodermal nestin-positive cell selection in generating "true" beta cells, it was increasingly recognized that one should follow the normal endodermal pathway to generate beta-like cells from ES cells. The third-generation studies manipulated the culture conditions in order to mimic effects of molecular signals known to initiate and/or regulate pancreas development from the gut endoderm in vivo. Indeed, the ventral and dorsal pancreatic buds evaginate from a particular region in posterior foregut endoderm devoid of *hedgehog* expression but highly transcribing Pdx1. They are under the influence of numerous signals emanating from adjacent tissues including notochord (activin-B and FGF2), lateral plate mesoderm (FGF4, bone morphogenetic protein-4 (BMP4), HGF, epidermal growth factor (EGF), activin), pancreatic mesenchyme (FGF10, retinoic acid), dorsal aorta and vitelline veins (Hebrok et al. 1998; Wells and Melton 2000; Bhushan et al. 2001; Lammert et al. 2001; Kumar et al. 2003; Martin et al. 2005). In addition, in vitro cultures of embryonic pancreas rudiments indicate that several factors including nicotinamide, betacellullin, GLP1 and activin-A improve proliferation or differentiation of fetal pancreatic epithelium and endocrine cells (Otonkoski et al. 1993; Demeterco et al. 2000). Considering all these data, several growth factors were tested on embryonic stem cells with the intention of directing their differentiation towards a pancreatic fate.

Embryoid bodies treated with serum followed by serum-free medium showed higher levels of endoderm genes, and when further exposed to a combination of activin-B, nicotinamide and exendin-4, the percentage of insulin-positive cells increased from less than 1% to 2.73%. In several other studies, addition of nicotinamide with other factors (N2 supplement, laminin, insulin) was proven efficient in increasing pancreatic gene expression in differentiated cells without any need for selection of nestin-positive progenitors (Blyszczuk et al. 2004; Ku et al. 2004; Rolletschek et al. 2004; Blyszczuk and Wobus 2006; Schroeder et al. 2006). Study of transgenic cells with GFP expression under Ngn3 promotor indicated that GFP-positive "pancreatic endocrine progenitors" are generated and represent up to 30% of total cells after secondary differentiation of EBs in the presence of activin-B, exendin-4 and nicotinamide (Ku et al. 2007). Retinoic acid, which was recently shown to be required during pancreas development in zebrafish, Xenopus and mouse embryos was also used in certain protocols. Alone or in combination with other molecules such as sodium butyrate, activin-A, FGF2 and nicotinamide, retinoid acid significantly induced Pdx1 expression by ES cell progenies and the resulting cells could normalize blood glucose in transplanted diabetic animals (Micallef et al. 2005; Shi et al. 2005; McKiernan et al. 2007). Similarly, addition of hedgehog pathway inhibitors (anti-sonic hedgehog antibody or cyclopamine) to culture medium led to increased expression of both endocrine and exocrine pancreas markers (Leon-Quinto et al. 2004; Skoudy et al. 2004). As blood vessels also contribute to the molecular network of early pancreas development, overexpression of SHB (Src homology 2 domain containing adaptor protein B), an adaptor protein that functions downstream of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) receptors also led to an increased expression of Pdx1 and *insulin* in mouse ES cell derivatives (Saldeen *et al.* 2006). However, single addition of growth factors participating in pancreas development might not fully recapitulate the complex developmental process. In order to circumvent this limitation, differentiating ES cells were also exposed to a complex biological environment generated by fetal pancreatic rudiments (Leon-Quinto *et al.* 2004; Brolen *et al.* 2005; Vaca *et al.* 2006), by regenerating adult mouse pancreas (Takeshita *et al.* 2006) or by mouse embryonic fibroblasts (Xu *et al.* 2006). Such treatments also resulted in improved pancreatic cell markers expression both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and transplantation of antibiotic-selected cells with active insulin promoter reduced hyperglycaemia in diabetic mice.

LATEST GROUNDBREAKING ACHIEVEMENTS

Getting to the definitive endoderm: the "golden egg" finally found!

Despite the profusion of data pointing towards pancreatic markers expression by ES cell derivatives and correction of hyperglycaemia in diabetic models, it remained unclear whether differentiated cells were unequivocally comparable to true beta cells as far as ontology (origin from definitive endoderm, extra-embryonic visceral endoderm or ectoderm), insulin synthesis/content and glucose sensing are concerned. Many of the studies mentioned in the previous sections actually did not focus on the establishment of a definitive endoderm progenitor population as first step, owing to the lack of known mammalian endoderm inducing agents and selective extracellular markers for *in vitro* applications. These limitations principally contributed to the relatively slow progression in efficient generation of endodermal tissues from ES cells as compared to tissues of mesoderm or ectoderm germ layers for which established conditions were developed. However, there was sufficient in vivo genetic evidence to consider that definitive endoderm can be obtained from ES cells. Retinoid acid treatment of transgenic ES cells expressing GFP under Pdx1 promotor indicated that the reporter-positive fraction expressed several endoderm markers (Foxa2, $Hnf4\alpha$, Hnf6, $Hnf1\beta$) and low levels of *Ptf1a*, a marker of pancreas progenitors in early development (Micallef et al. 2005).

Taking advantage of the well-characterized effects of TGF β signals in patterning zebrafish and *Xenopus* pluripotent embryonic cells towards the endoderm lineage, Kubo et al. supplemented transgenic (Brachury-GFP) mouse ES cells with high concentrations of activin-A (100 ng/ml) in serum-free conditions. They observed that up to 60% of EBs cells committed to definitive endoderm as evaluated by GFP, Foxa2 and Sox17 (sex determining region Y, box-17) expression on one hand, and further differentiation of GFPpositive cells into hepatic (Foxa2, albumin), intestinal (intestinal fatty acid binding protein (IFABP), muscin) and pulmonary (surfactant protein C (SftpC)) tissues on the other hand. Cells treated with lower concentrations of activin-A mainly gave rise to mesoderm-derived tissues even after initial purification for *Brachury* (*Bry*) expression (Kubo *et al.* 2004). In another transgenic cell line expressing GFP under Goosecoid (Gsc) promoter, a much lower concentration of activin-A (10 ng/ml) induced 65% and 93% positive cells by day 4 and 6 respectively. These cells showed strong upregulation of Sox17, Gsc, Foxa2 and Mixl1 (mix homeobox-like 1), but no expression of the visceral endoderm (Sox7, Hnf4, Pthr1 (parathyroid hormone receptor-1)) or neuronal markers (Sox1, Pax6). Interestingly, the first Bry-positive and/or Gsc-positive cells were defined as in vitro primitive streak and mesendoderm equivalents that require both Wnt and TGF β signaling for their induction, and that are capable of giving rise to both definitive endoderm and mesoderm derivatives upon differentiation (Tada et al. 2005; Gadue et al. 2006; Gouon-Evans et al. 2006). Further analysis of activin-induced cells indicated that definitive and visceral endoderm could be distinguished

on the basis of Gsc and Sox17 expression; that is Gsc(-) Sox17(+) for visceral endoderm and Gsc(+)Sox17(+) for definitive endoderm. Furthermore, definitive endoderm could be isolated from wild type ES cells treated with activin-A by sorting the double positive fraction for the extracellular proteins E-cadherin and CxCR4 (chemokine C-X-C motif receptor-4) (Yasunaga et al. 2005). Despite the fact that activin-A strongly induced endoderm from ES cells, it does not represent the native inducer of this germ layer in vivo. Another family member nodal, which is not yet commercially available in its potent form, normally assumes this function. To circumvent this drawback, ES cells were engineered to express tetracycline-regulated nodal. Upon differentiation, these cells were shown to generate definitive endoderm identified by CxCR4, VEGFR2 (VEGF receptor-2) and PDGFR- α (PDGF receptor alpha) cell sorting, as well as mesoderm cells. Visceral endoderm and neuroectoderm differentiation were severely repressed in this system and attenuation of nodal signaling after definitive endoderm establishment was a prerequisite for its further maturation into progenies expressing foregut (SftpC, albumin, tyrosine aminotransferase), midgut (Pdx1, glucagon, amylase) or hindgut (IFABP, villin) markers (Takenaga et al. 2007).

The data accumulated with serum-free activin-A or nodal treatment of mouse ES cells confirmed the conserved role of TGFβ signals in endoderm induction in lower vertebrates and extended it to rodents. When applied to human ES cell differentiation in presence or in absence of feeder cells, this treatment also led to the generation of definitive endoderm cells expressing Gsc, Sox17, Foxa2, Mixl1, and Pdx1 but not Sox7 (visceral endoderm) or Sox1 (neuroectoderm). The induced cells were additionally purified to near homogeneity by CxCR4-positive cell sorting and after engraftment in SCID-mice, they generated intestinal (villin, caudal homeobox-2 (Cdx2)) and hepatic (hepatocyte-specific antigen) cell types (D'Amour *et al.* 2005; Yao *et al.* 2006). A four-day inhibition of the PI3K signaling in conditions that would otherwise support human ES cell self-renewal induced differentiation into mesendoderm and then to Sox17-positive CxCR4-positive definitive endoderm. This activity was actually related to a shift from combined selfrenewal stimuli present in fibroblast-conditioned medium to a predominant $\hat{T}GF\beta$ signaling in the absence of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1) and insulin activities. When cultured in the presence of serum, activin-A could induce definitive endoderm from ES cells only when PI3K was inhibited. These findings shed light on the failure to produce definitive endoderm cells by initial reports that usually performed differentiation in 10% serum. It also explains why activinbased protocols require very low serum concentration or serum-free media to efficiently induce definitive endoderm (McLean et al. 2007).

The small chemical sodium butyrate has previously been applied to mouse ES cells monolayer cultures and appeared to induce differentiation of hepatic progenitors that further give rise to metabolically active hepatocytes and bile duct cells. However, these studies were not supported by a clear demonstration of initial definitive endoderm induction upon sodium butyrate treatment (Rambhatla et al. 2003; Sharma et al. 2006; Zhou et al. 2007). Nevertheless, owing to the common endodermal origin of liver and pancreas, short term ES cell exposure (24 hours) to sodium butyrate was tried and led to a strong induction of Pdx1transcripts as well as mesendoderm markers Gsc, Bry and Sox17. But, the resulting cells showed downregulated Foxa2 expression, and upon protein analysis Pdx1 was mainly confined to the cytoplasm and its transcripts expression was lost as from day 4 (Goicoa et al. 2006).

By activating the same signaling pathway (SMAD) to generate definitive endoderm identified by different combinations of Gsc, Sox17, Foxa2, CxCR4 and E-cadherin, all these studies set a decisive landmark in the field of beta cell differentiation from ES cells. Nevertheless, one can already point out the large variations in the procedures followed by different groups concerning culture in monolayer or embry-

Table 3 Generation of ES cell-derived definitive endoderm and beta-like cells. After establishing conditions for derivation of definitive endoderm from mouse and human ES cells, further differentiation with factors known to regulate pancreas development *in vivo* results in relatively high proportion of Pdx1-positive progenitors and insulin-positive or C-peptide-positive beta-like cells. These cells however would represent immature fetal-like cells that need further maturation to become fully responsive to glucose stimulation. The table represents immunostaining data from different protocols applied to mouse or human ES cells.

ES cells	DE induced + differentiated	DE cells	Pdx1+	Ins+	References
			cells	cells	
Mouse	2.5d serum, then 3.5d SF; or 7d SF + ActA (100 ng/ml)	40-60% ^(a)	-	-	Kubo et al. 2004
	RA (10 μ M) at d4, EBs culture till d8	yes	1% ^(a)	-	Micallef et al. 2005
	6d SF + ActA (10 ng/ml), Col-IV coating, ML	93% ^(a) 60% ^(b)	-	no	Tada et al. 2005
	6d SF + ActA (10 ng/ml), Col-IV coating, ML	$96\% \ {}^{(a)} \ 92\% \ {}^{(b)} \ 30\% \ {}^{(c)}$	-	-	Yasunaga et al. 2005
	2d SF; 2d ActA (25 ng/ml) / Wnt3a (100 ng/ml); 2d ActA (10 ng/ml)	92% ^(a)	-	no	Gadue et al. 2006
	2d SF-N2-B27, 4d ActA (50 ng/ml)	70% ^(a)	-	-	Gouon-Evans et al. 2006
Human	5d ActA (100 ng/ml), 0-2% serum, ML	80% ^(b) 72% ^(d)	-	-	D'Amour et al. 2005
	1d Wnt3a (25 ng/ml) + ActA (100 ng/ml), 3d ActA, 4d FGF10 +	yes	yes	7.3%	D'Amour et al. 2006
	cyclopamine, 3d + RA, 4d exendin-4, >6d IGF1 + HGF				
	9d CDM-N2-B27 + ActA (100 ng/ml)	>80% ^(e)	>80%	-	Yao et al. 2006
	7d ActA (4 nM) + NaBut, 3d EGF (20 ng/ml) + FGF2 (2 ng/ml) +	80% ^(b) $70%$ ^(c)	24%	4% ^(f)	Jiang <i>et al</i> . 2007a
	Noggin (100 ng/ml), 7d EGF + Noggin, 7d IGF2 \pm NA				
	2d CDM-ITS, 4d ActA (50 ng/ml), 4d RA (1 µM), 3d FGF2, 5d	yes	25%	15% ^(f)	Jiang et al. 2007b
	$FGF2 \pm NA$				-
	5d LY294002 in self-renewal settings; or	70% ^(c)	-	-	McLean et al. 2007
	5d serum + LY294002 + ActA (100 ng/ml)				
	10d Nodal overexpression, 4d aggregation in 10% FBS	84% ^(b)	5.4%	-	Takenaga et al. 2007

Abbreviations: ^(a), *Bry*, *Gsc* or *Pdx1* reporter expression; ^(b), E-cadherin or CxCR4 cell sorting; ^(c), *Sox17* transcript or reporter expression; ^(d), co-localisation Sox17 and Bry, ^(e), co-localisation Sox17 and Foxa2; ^(f), C-peptide staining; CDM, chemically defined medium containing ITSFn; DE, definitive endoderm; ML, monolayer culture; NaBut, sodium butyrate; RA, retinoic acid; SF, serum-free.

oid bodies formation, total length of exposure to activin receptor ligands (from 4 to 10 days), concentration of activin-A (between 10 and 100 ng/ml), addition of ITSFn, N2 or B27 supplements and the use of small molecules such as retinoic acid and sodium butyrate (**Table 3**). It would be interesting to compare all these protocols in the same ES cell line in order to examine how equivalent they are.

From definitive endoderm to pancreatic beta-like cell: enough done, but much still to be done!

Establishment of common in vitro conditions required for definitive endoderm induction in both mouse and human ES cells opened new perspectives in the search for new sources of shortened islets of Langerhans. Similarly, chronic diseases affecting other endoderm-derived organs might benefit from this advancement (Table 1). Human ES cells differentiated to definitive endoderm by exposure to activin-A were soon shown to sequentially give rise to *in vitro* equivalents of primitive gut tube ($Hnf1\beta$, Hnf4), posterior foregut (Hnf6, Pdx1, Hlxb9 (homeobox HB9)), pancreatic endoderm and endocrine precursors (Ngn3, Pax4, Nkx6.1, Nkx2.2), and finally hormone expressing cells (7% insulinproducing cells). The transition through these stages required subsequent exposure to media cocktails containing FGF10, cyclopamine, retinoic acid, exendin-4, IGF1 or hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) which are signaling molecules with recognized function in pancreas development. Although these cells contained sufficient insulin and released C-peptide in response to several secretagogues, they were not stimulated by glucose; a phenotype that classifies them as fetal immature beta-cells (D'Amour et al. 2006). Worthy to note, this study found that inhibition of hedgehog signaling with cyclopamine during primitive gut tube and posterior foregut stages is mandatory for the generation of insulin-producing cells. Indeed, activin induction of definitive endoderm is associated with upregulation of hedgehog signaling, resulting in repression of the leading pancreas marker Pdx1, which can be rescued by supplementation of hedgehog interacting protein (Mfopou et al. 2007). In the same line, transcription of *insulin1* and *insulin2* genes by mouse ES cells derivatives was recorded upon activin-A and retinoid acid treatment of 4 days-old EBs in the context of absent hedgehog induction. These data are strongly consistent with the widely studied effects of hedgehog ligands

on pancreas development, though this phenomenon was usually neglected in early studies (Mfopou and Bouwens 2007; Nakanishi *et al.* 2007). Following 4 days serum (20%), 4 days activin-A (30 ng/ml) and 2 days retinoic acid (10 μ M) treatment of human ES cells, pancreatic progenitors co-expressing nestin and Pdx1 were generated. When plated in ITSFn-supplemented medium, they gave rise to 35% Pdx1-positive cells that lost nestin expression. Despite low transcripts levels detected by PCR, no pancreatic hormone expression was identified after extended culture *in vitro*, but transplantation of these cells in diabetic mice resulted in insulin-producing cell differentiation and progressive lowering of blood glucose over 4 weeks (Shim *et al.* 2007).

A combination of activin-A and sodium butyrate was found to improve endoderm induction in human ES cells as compared to activin-A alone. Further exposure of re-aggregated cells to EGF, FGF2 and noggin generated Pdx1-positive pancreas progenitors that were further differentiated into islet-like clusters expressing insulin (2-8% C-peptide positive cells), glucagon and somatostatin after culture in nicotinamide and IGF2-containing medium. A much simplified protocol involving monolayer culture of human ES cells in chemically defined medium (50% F2 nutrient mixture, 1% ITS supplement) with activin-A induction of definitive endoderm and sequential exposure to retinoic acid, FGF2, combined FGF2 and nicotinamide resulted in 15% C-peptide positive cells that normalized blood glucose in 30% of transplanted diabetic nude mice (Jiang et al. 2007a; Jiang et al. 2007b).

CONCLUDING REMARKS AND PERSPECTIVES

More than twenty years after the first derivation of embryonic stem cells, they continue to fascinate the scientific community with regards to their self-renewal properties, their wide differentiation potential *in vitro* or *in vivo*, and more interesting their prospective use as surrogates of shortened cells needed in transplantation therapies. As far as diabetes cell therapy is concerned, a plethora of studies pointed to the possible expression of pancreatic transcription factors and hormones including insulin by progenies of ES cells. The first- and second-generation studies lacked a formal proof that differentiated cells were of endodermal origin and not representing extra-embryonic visceral endoderm or neuroectoderm cells that share some markers with the pancreas including insulin. These critics also apply to third-generation studies in which use was made of several growth factors with recognized functions in embryonic pancreas development. The major breakthrough in this field came with the efficient generation of definitive endoderm, the germ layer from which pancreas normally develops in *vivo*. This advance also confirms the crucial role played by TGF β signaling in endoderm induction, which now encompasses several species from lower vertebrates to mammals. Although much has already been done to derive pancreas progenitors from ES-derived definitive endoderm, it is believed that adequate implementation of complex developmental biology findings related to pancreas development will further push the field forward, so that matured glucoseresponsive beta-cells could be obtained with high efficiency to satisfy clinical needs. Although the latest strategies proposed rely on certain specific aspects of pancreas development, it is difficult to reconcile all the data because of major variations in cell treatments as well as subtle technical issues. Presently, no study reports on efficiency above 15% insulin-positive cells and it is not totally clear whether definitive endoderm and/or pancreas progenitors established in vitro from ES cells would spontaneously give rise to similar percentages in the absence of "pro-endocrine" cocktails used so far. As suggested from the study by D'Amour et al. (2006), the question is to know whether early step of endoderm induction is the only and most important condition that has driven present observations. To this end, finetuning of proposed strategies is required; with special focus on Notch signaling which to our opinion has just marginally been explored. Once a fully developmental-based, efficient, reproducible and universally accepted protocol is established for generation of beta-cells from ES cells, attention will need to be paid to issues of tumor formation and immune rejection by transplanted patients. But before we get there, we might probably need equivalent milestones as from ES cell discovery to date.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

JKM is a research fellow supported by the Horizontale Onderzoeksactie of the Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Belgium.

REFERENCES

- Assady S, Maor G, Amit M, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Skorecki KL, Tzukerman M (2001) Insulin production by human embryonic stem cells. *Diabetes* 50, 1691-1697
- Baharvand H, Jafary H, Massumi M, Ashtiani SK (2006) Generation of insulin-secreting cells from human embryonic stem cells. *Development*, *Growth and Differentiation* 48, 323-332
- Bai L, Meredith G, Tuch BE (2005) Glucagon-like peptide-1 enhances production of insulin in insulin-producing cells derived from mouse embryonic stem cells. *Journal of Endocrinology* 186, 343-352
- Barberi T, Bradbury M, Dincer Z, Panagiotakos G, Socci ND, Studer L (2007) Derivation of engraftable skeletal myoblasts from human embryonic stem cells. *Nature Medicine* **13**, 642-648
- Beattie GM, Lopez AD, Bucay N, Hinton A, Firpo MT, King CC, Hayek A (2005) Activin A maintains pluripotency of human embryonic stem cells in the absence of feeder layers. *Stem Cells* 23, 489-495
- Bhushan A, Itoh N, Kato S, Thiery JP, Czernichow P, Bellusci S, Scharfmann R (2001) Fgf10 is essential for maintaining the proliferative capacity of epithelial progenitor cells during early pancreatic organogenesis. *Development* 128, 5109-5117
- Blyszczuk P, Asbrand C, Rozzo A, Kania G, St-Onge L, Rupnik M, Wobus AM (2004) Embryonic stem cells differentiate into insulin-producing cells without selection of nestin-expressing cells. *International Journal of Developmental Biology* 48, 1095-1104
- Blyszczuk P, Czyz J, Kania G, Wagner M, Roll U, St-Onge L, Wobus AM (2003) Expression of Pax4 in embryonic stem cells promotes differentiation of nestin-positive progenitor and insulin-producing cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 100, 998-1003
- Blyszczuk P, Wobus AM (2006) In vitro differentiation of embryonic stem cells into the pancreatic lineage. Methods in Molecular Biology 330, 373-385
 Bonner Weir S, Weir CC (2005) New sources of pancreatic beta cells. Nature
- Bonner-Weir S, Weir GC (2005) New sources of pancreatic beta-cells. *Nature Biotechnology* 23, 857-861

- Brolen GK, Heins N, Edsbagge J, Semb H (2005) Signals from the embryonic mouse pancreas induce differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into insulin-producing beta-cell-like cells. *Diabetes* 54, 2867-2874
- Brons IG, Smithers LE, Trotter MW, Rugg-Gunn P, Sun B, Chuva de Sousa Lopes SM, Howlett SK, Clarkson A, Ahrlund-Richter L, Pedersen RA, Vallier L (2007) Derivation of pluripotent epiblast stem cells from mammalian embryos. *Nature* 448, 191-195
- Brustle O, Jones KN, Learish RD, Karram K, Choudhary K, Wiestler OD, Duncan ID, McKay RD (1999) Embryonic stem cell-derived glial precursors: a source of myelinating transplants. *Science* 285, 754-756
- Chambers I (2004) The molecular basis of pluripotency in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Cloning and Stem Cells* 6, 386-391
- D'Amour KA, Agulnick AD, Eliazer S, Kelly OG, Kroon E, Baetge EE (2005) Efficient differentiation of human embryonic stem cells to definitive endoderm. *Nature Biotechnology* 23, 1534-1541
- D'Amour KA, Bang AG, Eliazer S, Kelly OG, Agulnick AD, Smart NG, Moorman MA, Kroon E, Carpenter MK, Baetge EE (2006) Production of pancreatic hormone-expressing endocrine cells from human embryonic stem cells. *Nature Biotechnology* 24, 1392-1401
- Demeterco C, Beattie GM, Dib SA, Lopez AD, Hayek A (2000) A role for activin A and betacellulin in human fetal pancreatic cell differentiation and growth. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 85, 3892-3897
- Evans MJ, Kaufman MH (1981) Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. *Nature* 292, 154
- Fellous TG, Guppy NJ, Brittan M, Alison MR (2006) Cellular pathways to beta-cell replacement. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews* 23, 87-99
- Friedrich TD, Regenass U, Stevens LC (1983) Mouse genital ridges in organ culture: the effects of temperature on maturation and experimental induction of teratocarcinogenesis. *Differentiation* 24, 60-64
- Fujikawa T, Oh SH, Pi L, Hatch HM, Shupe T, Petersen BE (2005) Teratoma formation leads to failure of treatment for type I diabetes using embryonic stem cell-derived insulin-producing cells. *American Journal of Pathology* 166, 1781-1791
- Gadue P, Huber TL, Paddison PJ, Keller GM (2006) Wnt and TGF-beta signaling are required for the induction of an *in vitro* model of primitive streak formation using embryonic stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **103**, 16806-16811
- Gale EA (1996) Theory and practice of nicotinamide trials in pre-type 1 diabetes. Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology and Metabolism 9, 375-379
- Goicoa S, Alvarez S, Ricordi C, Inverardi L, Dominguez-Bendala J (2006) Sodium butyrate activates genes of early pancreatic development in embryonic stem cells. *Cloning and Stem Cells* 8, 140-149
- Gouon-Evans V, Boussemart L, Gadue P, Nierhoff D, Koehler CI, Kubo A, Shafritz DA, Keller G (2006) BMP-4 is required for hepatic specification of mouse embryonic stem cell-derived definitive endoderm. *Nature Biotechnology* 24, 1402-1411
- Hansson M, Tonning A, Frandsen U, Petri A, Rajagopal J, Englund MC, Heller RS, Hakansson J, Fleckner J, Skold HN, Melton D, Semb H, Serup P (2004) Artifactual insulin release from differentiated embryonic stem cells. *Diabetes* 53, 2603-2609
- Hao J, Li TG, Qi X, Zhao DF, Zhao GQ (2006) WNT/beta-catenin pathway up-regulates Stat3 and converges on LIF to prevent differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells. *Developmental Biology* 290, 81-91
- Hebrok M, Kim SK, Melton DA (1998) Notochord repression of endodermal Sonic hedgehog permits pancreas development. *Genes and Development* 12, 1705-1713
- Hori Y, Rulifson IC, Tsai BC, Heit JJ, Cahoy JD, Kim SK (2002) Growth inhibitors promote differentiation of insulin-producing tissue from embryonic stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 99, 16105-16110
- Houard N, Rousseau GG, Lemaigre FP (2003) HNF-6-independent differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells into insulin-producing cells. *Diabetologia* 46, 378-385
- Humphrey RK, Beattie GM, Lopez AD, Bucay N, King CC, Firpo MT, Rose-John S, Hayek A (2004) Maintenance of pluripotency in human embryonic stem cells is STAT3 independent. *Stem Cells* 22, 522-530
- Ibii T, Shimada H, Miura S, Fukuma E, Sato H, Iwata H (2007) Possibility of insulin-producing cells derived from mouse embryonic stem cells for diabetes treatment. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* 103, 140-146
- Jacobson L, Kahan B, Djamali A, Thomson J, Odorico JS (2001) Differentiation of endoderm derivatives, pancreas and intestine, from rhesus embryonic stem cells. *Transplantation Proceedings* 33, 674
- James D, Levine AJ, Besser D, Hemmati-Brivanlou A (2005) TGFbeta/activin/nodal signaling is necessary for the maintenance of pluripotency in human embryonic stem cells. *Development* 132, 1273-1282
- Jensen J (2004) Gene regulatory factors in pancreatic development. Developmental Dynamics 229, 176-200
- Jiang J, Au M, Lu K, Eshpeter A, Korbutt G, Fisk G, Majumdar AS (2007a) Generation of insulin-producing islet-like clusters from human embryonic stem cells. *Stem Cells* 25, 1940-1953
- Jiang W, Shi Y, Zhao D, Chen S, Yong J, Zhang J, Qing T, Sun X, Zhang P, Ding M, Li D, Deng H (2007b) *In vitro* derivation of functional insulin-producing cells from human embryonic stem cells. *Cell Research* 17, 333-344

- Johansson BM, Wiles MV (1995) Evidence for involvement of activin A and bone morphogenetic protein 4 in mammalian mesoderm and hematopoietic development. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 15, 141-151
- Kaczorowski DJ, Patterson ES, Jastromb WE, Shamblott MJ (2002) Glucose-responsive insulin-producing cells from stem cells. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews* 18, 442-450
- Kahan BW, Jacobson LM, Hullett DA, Ochoada JM, Oberley TD, Lang KM, Odorico JS (2003) Pancreatic precursors and differentiated islet cell types from murine embryonic stem cells: an *in vitro* model to study islet differentiation. *Diabetes* 52, 2016-2024
- Kania G, Blyszczuk P, Czyz J, Navarrete-Santos A, Wobus AM (2003) Differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells into pancreatic and hepatic cells. *Methods in Enzymology* 365, 287-303
- Keirstead HS, Nistor G, Bernal G, Totoiu M, Cloutier F, Sharp K, Steward O (2005) Human embryonic stem cell-derived oligodendrocyte progenitor cell transplants remyelinate and restore locomotion after spinal cord injury. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 25, 4694-4705
- Keymeulen B, Gillard P, Mathieu C, Movahedi B, Maleux G, Delvaux G, Ysebaert D, Roep B, Vandemeulebroucke E, Marichal M, In 't Veld P, Bogdani M, Hendrieckx C, Gorus F, Ling Z, van Rood J, Pipeleers D (2006) Correlation between beta cell mass and glycemic control in type 1 diabetic recipients of islet cell graft. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 103, 17444-17449
- Kitano M, Kakinuma M, Takatori A, Negishi T, Ishii Y, Kyuwa S, Yoshikawa Y (2006) Gene expression profiling of mouse embryonic stem cell progeny differentiated by Lumelsky's protocol. *Cells Tissues Organs* 183, 24-31
- Kleinsmith LJ, Pierce GB Jr. (1964) Multipotentiality of single embryonal carcinoma cells. Cancer Research 24, 1544-1551
- Ku HT, Chai J, Kim YJ, White P, Purohit-Ghelani S, Kaestner KH, Bromberg JS (2007) Insulin-expressing colonies developed from murine embryonic stem cell-derived progenitors. *Diabetes* 56, 921-929
- Ku HT, Zhang N, Kubo A, O'Connor R, Mao M, Keller G, Bromberg JS (2004) Committing embryonic stem cells to early endocrine pancreas *in vitro*. *Stem Cells* 22, 1205-1217
- Kubo A, Shinozaki K, Shannon JM, Kouskoff V, Kennedy M, Woo S, Fehling HJ, Keller G (2004) Development of definitive endoderm from embryonic stem cells in culture. *Development* 131, 1651-1662
- Kumar M, Jordan N, Melton D, Grapin-Botton A (2003) Signals from lateral plate mesoderm instruct endoderm toward a pancreatic fate. *Developmental Biology* 259, 109-122
- Kwon YD, Oh SK, Kim HS, Ku SY, Kim SH, Choi YM, Moon SY (2005) Cellular manipulation of human embryonic stem cells by TAT-PDX1 protein transduction. *Molecular Therapy* **12**, 28-32
- Lammert E, Cleaver O, Melton D (2001) Induction of pancreatic differentiation by signals from blood vessels. *Science* 294, 564-567
- Lavon N, Yanuka O, Benvenisty N (2006) The effect of overexpression of Pdx1 and Foxa2 on the differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into pancreatic cells. *Stem Cells* 24, 1923-1930
- Leon-Quinto T, Jones J, Skoudy A, Burcin M, Soria B (2004) *In vitro* directed differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells into insulin-producing cells. *Diabetologia* 47, 1442-1451
- Lester LB, Kuo HC, Andrews L, Nauert B, Wolf DP (2004) Directed differentiation of rhesus monkey ES cells into pancreatic cell phenotypes. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology* 2, 42
- Li XJ, Du ZW, Zarnowska ED, Pankratz M, Hansen LO, Pearce RA, Zhang SC (2005) Specification of motoneurons from human embryonic stem cells. *Nature Biotechnology* 23, 215-221
- Lin HT, Kao CL, Lee KH, Chang YL, Chiou SH, Tsai FT, Tsai TH, Sheu DC, Ho LL, Ku HH (2007) Enhancement of insulin-producing cell differentiation from embryonic stem cells using pax4-nucleofection method. World Journal of Gastroenterology 13, 1672-1679
- Lumelsky N, Blondel O, Laeng P, Velasco I, Ravin R, McKay R (2001) Differentiation of embryonic stem cells to insulin-secreting structures similar to pancreatic islets. *Science* **292**, 1389-1394
- Marenah L, McCluskey JT, Abdel-Wahab YH, O'Harte FP, McClenaghan NH, Flatt PR (2006) A stable analogue of glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide, GIP(LysPAL16), enhances functional differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells into cells expressing islet-specific genes and hormones. *Biological Chemistry* 387, 941-947
- Martin GR (1981) Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 78, 7634-7638
- Martin GR, Evans MJ (1975) Differentiation of clonal lines of teratocarcinoma cells: formation of embryoid bodies in vitro. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 72, 1441-1445
- Martin M, Gallego-Llamas J, Ribes V, Kedinger M, Niederreither K, Chambon P, Dolle P, Gradwohl G (2005) Dorsal pancreas agenesis in retinoic acid-deficient Raldh2 mutant mice. *Developmental Biology* 284, 399-411
- Maye P, Becker S, Siemen H, Thorne J, Byrd N, Carpentino J, Grabel L (2004) Hedgehog signaling is required for the differentiation of ES cells into neurectoderm. *Developmental Biology* **265**, 276-290

Mc Kiernan E, Barron NW, O'Sullivan F, Barham P, Clynes M, O'Driscoll

L (2007) Detecting de novo insulin synthesis in embryonic stem cell-derived populations. *Experimental Cell Research* **313**, 1405-1414

- McKiernan E, O'Driscoll L, Kasper M, Barron N, O'Sullivan F, Clynes M (2007) Directed differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells into pancreatic-like or neuronal- and glial-like phenotypes. *Tissue Engineering* 13, 2419-2430
- McLean AB, D'Amour KA, Jones KL, Krishnamoorthy M, Kulik MJ, Reynolds DM, Sheppard AM, Liu H, Xu Y, Baetge EE, Dalton S (2007) Activin a efficiently specifies definitive endoderm from human embryonic stem cells only when phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling is suppressed. *Stem Cells* 25, 29-38
- Mfopou JK, Bouwens L (2005) Hedgehog signaling: the first barrier to differentiation of pancreatic cells from ES cells? *Diabetologia* 48 (Suppl. 1), A13-A14
- Mfopou JK, Bouwens L (2007) Hedgehog signals in pancreatic differentiation from embryonic stem cells: revisiting the neglected. *Differentiation* in press
- Mfopou JK, De Groote V, Xu X, Heimberg H, Bouwens L (2007) Sonic hedgehog and other soluble factors from differentiating embryoid bodies inhibit pancreas development. *Stem Cells* 25, 1156-1165
- Mfopou JK, Willems E, Leyns L, Bouwens L (2005) Expression of regulatory genes for pancreas development during murine embryonic stem cell differentiation. *International Journal of Developmental Biology* 49, 915-922
- Micallef SJ, Janes ME, Knezevic K, Davis RP, Elefanty AG, Stanley EG (2005) Retinoic acid induces Pdx1-positive endoderm in differentiating mouse embryonic stem cells. *Diabetes* 54, 301-305
- Milne HM, Burns CJ, Kitsou-Mylona I, Luther MJ, Minger SL, Persaud SJ, Jones PM (2005) Generation of insulin-expressing cells from mouse embryonic stem cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 328, 399-403
- Mitsui K, Tokuzawa Y, Itoh H, Segawa K, Murakami M, Takahashi K, Maruyama M, Maeda M, Yamanaka S (2003) The homeoprotein Nanog is required for maintenance of pluripotency in mouse epiblast and ES cells. *Cell* 113, 631-642
- Miyazaki S, Yamato E, Miyazaki J (2004) Regulated expression of pdx-1 promotes in vitro differentiation of insulin-producing cells from embryonic stem cells. Diabetes 53, 1030-1037
- Moritoh Y, Yamato E, Yasui Y, Miyazaki S, Miyazaki J (2003) Analysis of insulin-producing cells during *in vitro* differentiation from feeder-free embryonic stem cells. *Diabetes* 52, 1163-1168
- Nakanishi M, Hamazaki TS, Komazaki S, Okochi H, Asashima M (2007) Pancreatic tissue formation from murine embryonic stem cells *in vitro*. *Differentiation* **75**, 1-11
- Nicolas JF, Avner P, Gaillard J, Guenet JL, Jakob H, Jacob F (1976) Cell lines derived from teratocarcinomas. *Cancer Research* **36**, 4224-4231
- Niwa H, Burdon T, Chambers I, Smith A (1998) Self-renewal of pluripotent embryonic stem cells is mediated via activation of STAT3. *Genes and Development* 12, 2048-2060
- **O'Shea KS** (2004) Self-renewal vs. differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells. *Biology of Reproduction* **71**, 1755-1765
- Okabayashi K, Asashima M (2003) Tissue generation from amphibian animal caps. Current Opinion in Genetics and Development 13, 502-507
- Otonkoski T, Beattie GM, Mally MI, Ricordi C, Hayek A (1993) Nicotinamide is a potent inducer of endocrine differentiation in cultured human fetal pancreatic cells. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* **92**, 1459-1466
- Paek HJ, Moise LJ, Morgan JR, Lysaght MJ (2005a) Origin of insulin secreted from islet-like cell clusters derived from murine embryonic stem cells. *Cloning and Stem Cells* 7, 226-231
- Paek HJ, Moise LJ, Morgan JR, Lysaght MJ (2005b) Sequestration and synthesis: the source of insulin in cell clusters differentiated from murine embryonic stem cells. *Stem Cells* 23, 862-867
- Pera MF, Cooper S, Mills J, Parrington JM (1989) Isolation and characterization of a multipotent clone of human embryonal carcinoma cells. *Differentiation* 42, 10-23
- Pfendler KC, Catuar CS, Meneses JJ, Pedersen RA (2005) Overexpression of Nodal promotes differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells into mesoderm and endoderm at the expense of neuroectoderm formation. *Stem Cells and Development* 14, 162-172
- Poggioli R, Faradji RN, Ponte G, Betancourt A, Messinger S, Baidal DA, Froud T, Ricordi C, Alejandro R (2006) Quality of life after islet transplantation. American Journal of Transplantation 6, 371-378
- Przyborski SA, Christie VB, Hayman MW, Stewart R, Horrocks GM (2004) Human embryonal carcinoma stem cells: models of embryonic development in humans. *Stem Cells and Development* 13, 400-408
- Rajagopal J, Anderson WJ, Kume S, Martinez OI, Melton DA (2003) Insulin staining of ES cell progeny from insulin uptake. *Science* 299, 363
- Rambhatla L, Chiu CP, Kundu P, Peng Y, Carpenter MK (2003) Generation of hepatocyte-like cells from human embryonic stem cells. *Cell Transplantation* 12, 1-11
- Roche E, Sepulcre P, Reig JA, Santana A, Soria B (2005) Ectodermal commitment of insulin-producing cells derived from mouse embryonic stem cells. *The FASEB Journal* 19, 1341-1343
- Rolletschek A, Blyszczuk P, Wobus AM (2004) Embryonic stem cell-derived cardiac, neuronal and pancreatic cells as model systems to study toxicolo-

gical effects. Toxicology Letters 149, 361-369

- Ryan EA, Paty BW, Senior PA, Bigam D, Alfadhli E, Kneteman NM, Lakey JR, Shapiro AM (2005) Five-year follow-up after clinical islet transplantation. *Diabetes* 54, 2060-2069
- Saitoh K, Yamato E, Miyazaki S, Miyazaki JI (2007) Both Pdx-1 and NeuroD1 genes are requisite for the maintenance of insulin gene expression in ES-derived differentiated cells. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 77, S138-S142
- Saldeen J, Kriz V, Agren N, Welsh M (2006) SHB and angiogenic factors promote ES cell differentiation to insulin-producing cells. *Biochemical and Bio*physical Research Communications 344, 517-524
- Santana A, Ensenat-Waser R, Arribas MI, Reig JA, Roche E (2006) Insulinproducing cells derived from stem cells: recent progress and future directions. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine* 10, 866-883
- Sato N, Meijer L, Skaltsounis L, Greengard P, Brivanlou AH (2004) Maintenance of pluripotency in human and mouse embryonic stem cells through activation of Wnt signaling by a pharmacological GSK-3-specific inhibitor. *Nature Medicine* 10, 55-63
- Scheffler B, Schmandt T, Schroder W, Steinfarz B, Husseini L, Wellmer J, Seifert G, Karram K, Beck H, Blumcke I, Wiestler OD, Steinhauser C, Brustle O (2003) Functional network integration of embryonic stem cell-derived astrocytes in hippocampal slice cultures. *Development* 130, 5533-5541
- Schroeder IS, Rolletschek A, Blyszczuk P, Kania G, Wobus AM (2006) Differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells to insulin-producing cells. *Nature Protocols* **1**, 495-507
- Schuldiner M, Yanuka O, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Melton DA, Benvenisty N (2000) Effects of eight growth factors on the differentiation of cells derived from human embryonic stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 97, 11307-11312
- Segev H, Fishman B, Ziskind A, Shulman M, Itskovitz-Eldor J (2004) Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into insulin-producing clusters. *Stem Cells* 22, 265-274
- Shapiro AM, Lakey JR, Ryan EA, Korbutt GS, Toth E, Warnock GL, Kneteman NM, Rajotte RV (2000) Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 343, 230-238
- Shapiro AM, Ricordi C, Hering BJ, Auchincloss H, Lindblad R, Robertson RP, Secchi A, Brendel MD, Berney T, Brennan DC, Cagliero E, Alejandro R, Ryan EA, DiMercurio B, Morel P, Polonsky KS, Reems JA, Bretzel RG, Bertuzzi F, Froud T, Kandaswamy R, Sutherland DE, Eisenbarth G, Segal M, Preiksaitis J, Korbutt GS, Barton FB, Viviano L, Seyfert-Margolis V, Bluestone J, Lakey JR (2006) International trial of the Edmonton protocol for islet transplantation. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 355, 1318-1330
- Sharma NS, Shikhanovich R, Schloss R, Yarmush ML (2006) Sodium butyrate-treated embryonic stem cells yield hepatocyte-like cells expressing a glycolytic phenotype. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* **94**, 1053-1063
- Shi Y, Hou L, Tang F, Jiang W, Wang P, Ding M, Deng H (2005) Inducing embryonic stem cells to differentiate into pancreatic beta cells by a novel three-step approach with activin A and all-*trans* retinoic acid. *Stem Cells* 23, 656-662
- Shim JH, Kim SE, Woo DH, Kim SK, Oh CH, McKay R, Kim JH (2007) Directed differentiation of human embryonic stem cells towards a pancreatic cell fate. *Diabetologia* **50**, 1228-1238
- Shiroi A, Ueda S, Ouji Y, Saito K, Moriya K, Sugie Y, Fukui H, Ishizaka S, Yoshikawa M (2005) Differentiation of embryonic stem cells into insulinproducing cells promoted by Nkx2.2 gene transfer. World Journal of Gastroenterology 11, 4161-4166
- Shiroi A, Yoshikawa M, Yokota H, Fukui H, Ishizaka S, Tatsumi K, Takahashi Y (2002) Identification of insulin-producing cells derived from embryonic stem cells by zinc-chelating dithizone. Stem Cells 20, 284-292
- Sipione S, Eshpeter A, Lyon JG, Korbutt GS, Bleackley RC (2004) Insulin expressing cells from differentiated embryonic stem cells are not beta cells. *Diabetologia* 47, 499-508
- Skoudy A, Rovira M, Savatier P, Martin F, Leon-Quinto T, Soria B, Real FX (2004) Transforming growth factor (TGF)beta, fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and retinoid signalling pathways promote pancreatic exocrine gene expression in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Biochemical Journal* 379, 749-756
- Smukler SR, Runciman SB, Xu S, van der Kooy D (2006) Embryonic stem cells assume a primitive neural stem cell fate in the absence of extrinsic influences. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 172, 79-90
- Soria B, Roche E, Berna G, Leon-Quinto T, Reig JA, Martin F (2000) Insulin-secreting cells derived from embryonic stem cells normalize glycemia in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. *Diabetes* 49, 157-162
- Tada S, Era T, Furusawa C, Sakurai H, Nishikawa S, Kinoshita M, Nakao

K, Chiba T, Nishikawa S (2005) Characterization of mesendoderm: a diverging point of the definitive endoderm and mesoderm in embryonic stem cell differentiation culture. *Development* **132**, 4363-4374

- Takenaga M, Fukumoto M, Hori Y (2007) Regulated Nodal signaling promotes differentiation of the definitive endoderm and mesoderm from ES cells. *Journal of Cell Science* 120, 2078-2090
- Takeshita F, Kodama M, Yamamoto H, Ikarashi Y, Ueda S, Teratani T, Yamamoto Y, Tamatani T, Kanegasaki S, Ochiya T, Quinn G (2006) Streptozotocin-induced partial beta cell depletion in nude mice without hyperglycaemia induces pancreatic morphogenesis in transplanted embryonic stem cells. *Diabetologia* 49, 2948-2958
- Tesar PJ (2005) Derivation of germ-line-competent embryonic stem cell lines from preblastocyst mouse embryos. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 102, 8239-8244
- Tesar PJ, Chenoweth JG, Brook FA, Davies TJ, Evans EP, Mack DL, Gardner RL, McKay RD (2007) New cell lines from mouse epiblast share defining features with human embryonic stem cells. *Nature* 448, 196-199
- The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group (1993) The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *The New England Journal of Medicine* **329**, 977-986
- Thompson S, Stern PL, Webb M, Walsh FS, Engstrom W, Evans EP, Shi WK, Hopkins B, Graham CF (1984) Cloned human teratoma cells differentiate into neuron-like cells and other cell types in retinoic acid. *Journal of Cell Science* 72, 37-64
- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, Jones JM (1998) Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. *Science* 282, 1145-1147
- Treff NR, Vincent RK, Budde ML, Browning VL, Magliocca JF, Kapur V, Odorico JS (2006) Differentiation of embryonic stem cells conditionally expressing neurogenin 3. Stem Cells 24, 2529-2537
- Tropepe V, Hitoshi S, Sirard C, Mak TW, Rossant J, van der Kooy D (2001) Direct neural fate specification from embryonic stem cells: a primitive mammalian neural stem cell stage acquired through a default mechanism. *Neuron* 30, 65-78
- Vaca P, Berna G, Martin F, Soria B (2003) Nicotinamide induces both proliferation and differentiation of embryonic stem cells into insulin-producing cells. *Transplantation Proceedings* 35, 2021-2023
- Vaca P, Martin F, Vegara-Meseguer JM, Rovira JM, Berna G, Soria B (2006) Induction of differentiation of embryonic stem cells into insulin-secreting cells by fetal soluble factors. *Stem Cells* 24, 258-265
- Vallier L, Alexander M, Pedersen RA (2005) Activin/Nodal and FGF pathways cooperate to maintain pluripotency of human embryonic stem cells. *Journal of Cell Science* 118, 4495-4509
- Vetere A, Marsich E, Di Piazza M, Koncan R, Micali F, Paoletti S (2003) Neurogenin3 triggers beta-cell differentiation of retinoic acid-derived endoderm cells. *Biochemical Journal* 371, 831-841
- Wells JM, Melton DA (2000) Early mouse endoderm is patterned by soluble factors from adjacent germ layers. *Development* **127**, 1563-1572
- Wichterle H, Lieberam I, Porter JA, Jessell TM (2002) Directed differentiation of embryonic stem cells into motor neurons. *Cell* 110, 385-397
- Wild S, Roglic G, Green A, Sicree R, King H (2004) Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. *Diabetes Care* 27, 1047-1053
- Xu X, Kahan B, Forgianni A, Jing P, Jacobson L, Browning V, Treff N, Odorico J (2006) Endoderm and pancreatic islet lineage differentiation from human embryonic stem cells. *Cloning and Stem Cells* 8, 96-107
- Yao S, Chen S, Clark J, Hao E, Beattie GM, Hayek A, Ding S (2006) Longterm self-renewal and directed differentiation of human embryonic stem cells in chemically defined conditions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 103, 6907-6912
- Yasunaga M, Tada S, Torikai-Nishikawa S, Nakano Y, Okada M, Jakt LM, Nishikawa S, Chiba T, Era T, Nishikawa S (2005) Induction and monitoring of definitive and visceral endoderm differentiation of mouse ES cells. *Nature Biotechnology* 23, 1542-1550
- Yue F, Cui L, Johkura K, Ogiwara N, Sasaki K (2006) Glucagon-like peptide-1 differentiation of primate embryonic stem cells into insulin-producing cells. *Tissue Engineering* 12, 2105-2116
- Zhou QJ, Xiang LX, Shao JZ, Hu RZ, Lu YL, Yao H, Dai LC (2007) In vitro differentiation of hepatic progenitor cells from mouse embryonic stem cells induced by sodium butyrate. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry 100, 29-42
- zur Nieden NI, Kempka G, Rancourt DE, Ahr HJ (2005) Induction of chondro-, osteo- and adipogenesis in embryonic stem cells by bone morphogenetic protein-2: effect of cofactors on differentiating lineages. BMC Developmental Biology 5, 1